
  
TOWN OF THUNDERBOLT 

REGULAR MONTHLY MEETING 
WEDNESDAY, FEBRUARY 8, 2023 

6:00 PM 
REVISED 

 
 
AGENDA HEARING 
 
Public has five minutes per person to ask questions or comment on any agenda item. 
 
 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
1. Call to order  
 
2. Roll Call by Presiding Officer with Invocation, followed by the Pledge of Allegiance  
 
3. Approval of Meeting Agenda  
 
4. Approval of Minutes from Previous Meeting:    page 3 – 9  

Minutes of January 11, 2023 
 
5. Finance Report:        page 10 – 11  
 
6. Old Business: 

 
a) Approval of variance for Seven Heaven Antiques sprinkler system for storage shed.  Seven Heaven 

Antiques request a waiver on installing a sprinkler system in the storage shed.  Due to the flammable 
materials, Staff recommends approval with conditions.  page 12 
 

7. Discussion Agenda: 
 

a) Approval of the renewal of Home Occupation Permits for Victory Plumbing – 3208 Pierce Blvd; Sublime 
Massage Therapy & Bodyworks – 3205 Oakwood; Bulldog Lighting & Events Inc – 3005 River Dr. Unit 
312.        page 13 – 18   
 

b) Approval of the purchase and installation of a tankless exterior gas water heater for the Fire Department 
from Parkside Plumbing @ $6,800.  The current water heater is leaking and causing a small isolated mold 
issue.  Staff recommends approval.     page 19 – 29   

 
c) Approval of Revised 2023 Event Contract with Simply Savannah Marketing.  This contract is for six 

events in 2023.  Staff recommends approval.    page 30 – 31    
 

d) Approval of the Thunderbolt Museum Society 2023 Fundraisers Event Permit.  Dates include February16, 
March 24, April 29, May 27, September 30, October 21, November 18 and December 9, 2023.  Staff 
recommends approval.        page 32 – 50   

 



e) Approval of the Special Event Permit for Shriners Hospital during the Blessing of the Fleet on April 29, 
2023.  This approval will allow the Shriners to get a Special Alcohol License with the State of Georgia.  
Staff recommends approval.        page 51 – 55  

 
f) Approval of the Cost Recovery Resolution.  This is the next step after Council authorized Fire Services to 

enter in a cost recovery arrangement at the November 2022.  This resolution enables the process.  
Recommend approval pending legal review or need.     page 56 - 61  

 
8. Department Report – Written Reports Submitted 
 

by:   Police / Municipal Court / Neighborhood Watch – Sean Clayton, Chief of Police  page 62 – 63   
Fire –Fire Chief, Andrew Bateman        page 64 – 66   
Public Works Department – Oscar Crosby, Public Works Manager  page 67 – 77  

  
9. Town Administrator Report: Town Administrator, Bob Milie    page 78 – 81   

 
10. Legal Report – Town Attorney 
     
11. Mayor and Council –  
 

a) Arbor Day Foundation Recognition 
b) TDRUP Subcommittee Presentation       page 82 – 83   

 
12. Executive Session- Mayor requests a motion and a second to recess into executive session for the purpose of 

Legal, Real Estate and/or Personnel matters.   
  

13. Adjournment: 



 

 
TOWN OF THUNDERBOLT 

REGULAR MONTHLY MEETING 
WEDNESDAY, JANUARY 11, 2023 

6:00 PM 
 
 

AGENDA HEARING 
 
Public has five minutes per person to ask questions or comment on any agenda item. 

  
• Mayor Van Johnson was in attendance today.  

o Traffick Jam: For Law Enforcement Entities to speak on human trafficking.  
• Feel better Deatre!  
• Stella Lavin: 3125 Robertson Ave: When she went to the P&Z meeting and wanted to make sure the height was being voted on 

as well as the length. This has been confirmed. She would like to vote with the P&Z committee if possible. Ordinance states no 
fence should be taller than 6ft.  

• Geneva Golden: 3126 Gilbert St: February’s Park & Recreation and 2022 Budget workshops: Last year the workshops were not 
publicized. This year how will you post it? It is posted on the website, Savannah Morning News, and social media. Can you use 
the emergency water cut off notification to notify residents of workshops? No it is only used in emergency.  

• Councilman Drohan: The formulation of the final numbers on the developmental zones is coming together. We have the gross 
numbers DPW shared. The only zone out of the 7 zones that will require significant infrastructure development was the one 
nearest the city of Savannah. There is a lot of development going on in Skidaway so they hope there will be more funding 
available. If the property owners want to develop this area we can be presented with where to get more funding. Different zoning 
standpoints may need to be considered. Sidewalks might want to be considered for Shell road. The reason for the study is so the 
town, planning & zoning, and the citizens can understand the true costs for development.  

o Mayor: Being that it is adjacent to Savannah will there be any hurtles? 
o Charlie Barrow:  No 
o Councilman Drohan: There is an existing ROW that is on the plat where a new road into Shell could possibly be 

developed.  
o Oscar Crosby: New funds are being used for a parking lot for Release Marine.  
o Geneva Golden: What properties?  
o Councilman Drohan: Shell Road and goes through to Colorado towards Skidaway Rd. We will have maps available at 

a later date.  
o Mayor: Please note this is just a study at this time.  
o Councilman Drohan: Good reporting with year-end water usage. This is the first time we have not had to purchase 

excess water from the City of Savannah aside the one line that serves TMI. We came 16 million gallons of water below 
what we are allowed to take from the Aquaphor. Reasoning? The data suggests the conversation and infrastructure 
improvements are a big contribution. We were also way under our limit for sewage as well. We are starting to develop a 
concrete infrastructure plan to have continued success in these areas.  

• Don Hodges: Skidaway Island: Variance Request: I am a GC. A man bought a property on Mechanics for his antique shop. He 
needed another building for his stakes. There are no combustibles, no electricity, lots of skylights. They initially wrote in red they 
wanted a sprinkler system in their building. If a building is smaller than 20,000 square ft it does not generally need a system. He 
has Andrew go look at it. He suggested to put it on the agenda to consider it. There is no water to supply to the building. With 
fuse breaks, everything gets covered. The only thing they would use it for is for storage. The building s under 5000ft and is just 
used for storage. It should not need a sprinkler system. They would like a variance for this property. The building is non-
combustible. Please consider granting this request.  

o Crenshaw & Milie: The recommendation from staff: (Fire Marshall, fire chief,) Denied. The state might not require it 
but Thunderbolt does.  

o Mayor: This is on the discussion agenda so we will come back to this issue.  

REGULAR MEETING 
 



 
1. Call to order 

  
2. Roll Call by Presiding Officer with Invocation, followed by the Pledge of Allegiance 

 
3. Approval of Meeting Agenda 

 
a) Ward Motions to Approve  
b) Councilman Crenshaw  
c) Unanimously Approved 

 
4. Approval of Minutes from Previous Meeting: page 3 – 7 

Minutes of December 14, 2022 and December 21, 2022 
• Ward 
• Crenshaw 
• Unanimously Approved 

 
5. Presentations: 

 
a) Proclamation for National Human Trafficking Prevention 

• Savannah State University  
• 8th Annual Savannah Traffick Jam  
• Diane McCloud: Blue is the color to wear to acknowledge human trafficking. Today is National 

Human Trafficking Prevention Today which is why I proudly wear blue.   
• Van Johnson: Mayor of City of Savannah; This is the first proclamation of the season. We are going to 

do the city of savannah tomorrow. We recognize human trafficking can happen anywhere and we will 
do our best to protect our communities.  

• Mayor: When you hear the word trafficking you first go to is sex trafficking but in actuality the big 
trafficking issue right now is labor trafficking. We appreciate you for raising awareness for this special 
issue.  

• The Mayor reads the proclamation.  
• Councilman Drohan: I am part of many groups that help identify human trafficking places. It is often 

very subtle and requires a trained eye to pick up on these types of situations. It might be helpful to 
bring the hospitals together to see how to more efficiently  

• Diane McCloud: She is an attorney that partners with the Coordinational Council that provides 
training to medical professionals that help them identify victims of human trafficking. They would be 
more than happy to provide that training to hospitals in the future.  

  page 8 
b) Introduction to the new Fire Marshall, Richard “Ricky” Griffin 

• Previous Fire Marshall Eric Phillips has now retired.  
• Hello Ricky Griffin and Thomas Simmons.  
• 23 years working for the city of Savannah  
• He has worked on Plans and inspections for 20 + years  
• 17 years working with Port Wentworth.  
• Before that he installed sprinkler systems.  
• Mayor welcomes him in.  

 
c) Finance Report: 

• Shannon Brett: Executive Summary Packets have been issued. No amendments have been proposed as 
of yet. Amendments should start around March. Revenues of 6.8 million are 38% of budget and 
expense line is around 86% of the budget. Everything seems on track as of now. We have 
accomplished all year end tasks. QS1 has also been closed out. Georgia Fund is a new option for 
keeping excess cash on deposit. Interest rate is 3.92 as of 12/31/2022. Funds are flexible and 
liquidated and brought back into availability. There are a few proposals for the general fund. 11,600 
interest generation. We want to keep the funds secure and available while earning the most interest 
possible. There is a contact with the GA office Shannon is getting comfortable with. Hopefully there 
will be a better update at next month’s meeting.  

• We will need to vote on allocating 2-3 million.  



 
• Councilman Ward sets a motion to increase to 3 million to GA fund to get larger interest back. 
• Councilman Crenshaw seconds.  
• Councilman Lavin wants to know how fast return will be.  

• Milie: This will be quick. It follows the same principal SPLOST does.  
• Councilman Lavin: What is the risk?  

• It is guaranteed by the state statutes. It is about 3 days to get everything out. Low risk.  
• No Loss and not market driven  

• Councilman Drohan: Equal access to funds?  
• Shannon Brett: Yes  

•  
 
6. Planning & Zoning Public Hearing page 9 – 18 

 
a.  Petitioner: George Merritt 

Request: Variance for fence location 
Parcel Involved: 3-0004-05-008 
Location: 2628 River Dr. 
P & Z unanimously denied the request. 

• George Merrit is not present at this meeting  
• This property located at 2628 River Dr. currently had a fence on their property that is 6ft when it 

should have been 4ft.  
• P&Z told them they should move the fence, apply for a variance, and or cut the fence to the 

appropriate height. The staff denied their original variance. There is no obstruction view but 
everything was measured and planned differently from the actual fence installation. There are no 
fences that are allowed to by 6ft. At 4ft it could have been permissible.  

• Dawn Williams: 3120 Hubbard St. Are we going to make them take their fence down?  
o They will have to comply with what has been enforced.  
o Will they be fined?  

 There is a legal process.  
• David Crenshaw motions to deny the variance  
• Councilman Ward seconds.  
• Drohan Discussion: I agree with the motion, however this is one of those properties I would call an 

unfortunate property. It is at an intersections with lots of traffic. All of us can imagine if we had 
lights coming through our windows all day. I can understand why they would want a fence. The 
error comes in when they were planning they should have gotten a variance to begin. They are 
within their rights to apply for a different type of variance but they broke the rules. They need to 
comply with their agreement. Was it originally approved facing River Dr.  

• Brooks: Their options are to move it back or cut it down. Just checking.  
• Charlie Barrow: At the zoning meeting the owner said he was out of town but zoomed in. The 

contractor was not at the meeting. When there is a final agreement for a permit like this the owner  
• Joslyn Bryant: With the intersection being so high does it obstruct traffic vision?  

o No it does not. It has been approved by PD.  
• The motion to deny variance has been approved unanimously.  

 
7. Discussion Agenda: 

 
a) Approval for a revision of Erica Davis Catering’s alcohol license. The current license is for Beer and 

Wine. They wish to expand their license to include liquor by the drink. Staff recommends approval. 
page 19 – 22 

• Dr. Drohan Motions to approve  
• Councilman Ward seconds 
• Councilman Crenshaw: Is the location to close to a church?  

• Milie: I would recommend for council to approve and double check they are 
within state legal rights  

• Dr. Drohan Agrees and Motions to Approve Suggestion  



 
• Councilman Ward Seconds  
• Motion is Approved Unanimously  

 
b) Approval of 2023 Event Contract with Simply Savannah Marketing. This contract is for six events in 

2023. Staff recommends approval. page 23 – 24 
 

• Councilman Drohan Motions to Approve 
• Councilman Ward Seconds 
• Councilman Crenshaw: How much is it? What is the cut off?  

o $55,000 for the year.  
o The intent to still get events sponsored but right now we have this budgeted. Out of $55,000 

projected expenses would be about $20,000.  
• Councilman Barberee: What are the events?  

o April- Easte Egg hunt  
o April- Earth Day/ Arbor Day 
o July 4th Kickball Tournament  
o September 10th- Philharmonic Concert  
o October- Kids Movie  
o December- Christmas on the Bluff  

• Councilman Skipper  
o Are we doing our own or sponsoring the Legion?  

 They were sponsored by State Farm last year so we are going to try to get them to sponsor 
us this year. (Vernon Donnovan)  

 We will have it at Cesaroni Park 
 We will not do Trunk or Treat since the Legion is already having an event.  

• Motion is unanimously voted in favor to approve.  
 



 

c) Approval of the purchase of a pump to replace a non-functioning pump at Downing 
Street from Goforth Williamson, inc. This is sole sourced local company. Staff 
recommends approval. page 25 – 26 

• Councilman Ward motions to approve  
• Councilman Drohan Seconds  
• Milie: This pump will replace a pipe from 2005.  
• The motion is approved unanimously.  

 
d) Approval of variance for Seven Heaven Antiques sprinkler system for storage 

shed. Seven Heaven Antiques request a waiver on installing a sprinkler system 
in the storage shed. Due to the flammable materials, Staff recommends denial. 

• Chief Bateman: I went out to look at the property and contacted 
the fire marshal. He saw all of the antique furniture and the small 
space. They felt uncomfortable approving this variance.  

• Milie: Antiques make me nervous when it comes to fire. There are 
a ton of things that compact you. This is one of those instances the 
variance recommendation is not great because the fire 

• Mayor: What is the risk of exposure to other properties?  
• It is about 25ft from the property line.  

• Hodges: No furniture will be stacked in the storage room. It is 
more an excess furniture store.  

• Councilman Lavin: How will he clean everything?  
• Hodges: He will use non-flammable polish to clean furniture. He 

also has insurance and high dollar items so he is vigilant on not 
losing anything. The system will be more expensive than what it is 
worth. And having to install the fuse system will be difficult as 
well. He never had to have a sprinkler system when dealing with 
furniture.  

• Mayor: Would you mind tabling this issue for a month?  
• Councilman Crenshaw motions to table until next month 
• Councilman Drohan seconds 
• Milie wants him to not put anything into the building until it does 

get approved.  
• Lavin: has anything been put in there prior to this discussion?  

• Hodges: No. We submitted a set of plans when we got 
the permit. PE had already stamped it but then it came 
back in red to install a sprinkler system. Hodges was 
surprised because the space was so small. He was then 
recommended to present this issue to council.  

• Charlie Barrow: Is this a single detached building?  
• Hodges: Yes.  

• Mayor: Electricity?  
• Hodges: No  

• Councilman Crenshaw: Would like to have a cost proposal for 
what it would cost to get water into the building and install the 
system.  

• New Fire Marshall will bring back recommendations for February 
meeting.  

• Motion is approved unanimously 
 



 

e) Discussion to establish a February Workshop for 2023 Goals, Review 2022 
Budget, and Parks & Recreation. 

• Would like to have on Weekdays preferably Wednesdays at 7pm.  
• Councilman Skipper motions to approve  
• Councilman Ward Seconds  
• Motions is approved unanimously  
 

 
8. Department Report – Written Reports Submitted 

 
by: Police / Municipal Court / Neighborhood Watch – Sean Clayton, Chief of Police  

page 27 – 28 
 Fire –Fire Chief, Andrew Bateman page 29 – 34 
 Public Works Department – Oscar Crosby, Public Works Manager page 35 – 45 

• Police: rocking and rolling for 2023  
• Fire:  

o dedication plaque was placed on the library last week.  
o Wrapping up projects at the station 

• DPW:  
o A sharp increase in water consumption caused by the frozen pipes.  
o We had 11 call outs during Christmas break for water breaks.  
o Everything has been dying down now.  
o Low water pressure caused by a 2-inch break but we had valves to fix the 

problem.  
o We are working on getting more valves for 2023.  

9. Town Administrator Report: Town Administrator, Bob Milie
page 46 – 47 

a) Katina, Oscar, and Milie are involved in a coaching session monthly. It is a high intensity 
leadership training program.  

b) 2022 was a bit of a waiting year but I am excited for 2023. We might be able to loosen the 
purse strings a bit now that we have secured some funding.  

c) We are eagerly waiting for a timeline for Tuberson and Rowland to be completed. We will 
keep you updated on that project.  

d) Anna Maria Museum:  
• We are bringing back the chili dinner on February 16th. Tickets will be going 

out to all of the members. If you would like a ticket just stop by the museum. 
Chili and cornbread to eat. This will be 11-6pm. Order some for your staff! We 
deliver.  

• We are bringing back the garage sale as well. Please donate your once loved 
treasures and we will see you there!  

• End of Report 2022 to follow.  
 
10. Legal Report – Town Attorney 

a) No Report and no reason to have Executive Session. 
 
11. Mayor and Council – 

a) Thank you to EVERYONE for a fantastic year last year. We exceeded a large number of goals and are 
ready to accomplish even more this year.  

b) Councilman Lavin: Thanks for all of the help this year. I look forward to this year.  
 
12. Executive Session- Mayor requests a motion and a second to recess into executive session 



 

for the purpose of Legal, Real Estate and/or Personnel matters. 
a) Councilman Crenshaw motions to Adjourn 
b) Councilman Ward Seconds 
c) Motion is approved Unanimously  

 
13. Adjournment: 

 



GEN Fund Revenue: 2,821,924$      ENT Fund Revenue: 2,332,500$       Town Revenue: 5,154,424$    

Expenses: G&A 550,446           Expenses Water/Sewer 2,035,500         
M&C 32,775             Solid Waste 303,845            
Gen Gov 95,000             
Police 778,279           Expenses Total: 2,339,345$       
Mun Crt. 160,503           
Fire 636,782           (6,845)$            
Streets 389,839           
Sen Cit 38,000             SPLOST Revenue -                   
Rec 29,500             Expenses -                   
Mus 3,000               
P&Z 7,800               Net -$                 
CAP SAV 100,000           
CAP EXP 253,000           CAP EXP Expenses 253,000            

Expenses Total: 2,821,924$      (253,000)$        Total Expense 5,414,269$    

Net -$                 (Deficit) Surplus (259,845)$      

ACT vs BUD ACT vs BUD
GEN Fund Revenue: 257,390$         (2,564,534)$    ENT Fund Revenue: 207,487$          (2,125,013)$    Town Revenue: 465,845$       

Expenses: G&A 49,404             (501,042)         Expenses Water/Sewer 169,183            (1,866,317)      
M&C 2,779               (29,996)           SolidWaste 22,652             (281,193)         
Gen Gov 1,541               (93,459)           -                  
Police 85,883             (692,396)         Expenses Total: 191,834$          (2,147,511)$    
Mun Crt. 13,725             (146,778)         
Fire 69,714             (567,068)         Net ENT 15,653$            22,498$          
Streets 31,286             (358,553)         
Sen Cit 1,190               (36,810)           SPLOST Revenue 968                  968                 
Rec 1,921               (27,579)           Expenses 4,969               4,969              
Mus 180                  (389,659)         
P&Z 1,426               (36,574)           CAP EXP Expenses -                   -                  

Expenses Total: 259,048$         (2,562,876)$    Net SPLOST & CAP (4,001)$            (4,001)$           Total Expense 455,852$       
Net General (1,658)$            (1,658)$           9,993$             16,838$          (Deficit) Surplus 9,993$           

Bank Account
Beginning 
Balance Cash IN Cash OUT Ending Balance Net Change

General Fund 1,842,295$    261,187$         (292,326)$             1,811,155$       (31,139)$         
Water Sewer Fund 1,268,402      218,006           (170,218)              1,316,191         47,788            
Municipal Court 11,015           12,402             (10,439)                12,978             1,963              
MC Cash Bond 25,933           17                    -                           25,950             17                   
Money Market Contingency 3,532,710      2,323               -                           3,535,033         2,323              
SPLOST Capital Projects 1,473,200      968                  (4,969)                  1,469,198         (4,001)             
Special Projects -                    -                       -                           -                       -                  
P.D. Asset 5,484             4                      -                           5,488               4                     
Speed Camera 24,310           8,418               -                           32,728             8,418              

8,183,348$    503,323$         -$                (477,952)$             -$               8,208,720$       25,371$                            

2023 Budget:

2023 Actuals: (Cash Flow)

Town Of Thunderbolt Cash Status: January 2023



Town of Thunderbolt
January 31, 2023

Line Item
 BUDGET FY 

2023  Amendment  
 Final 

Admendment  
 Amended 

Budget 2023 
Actuals Year 

to Date YTD %
REVENUES

Taxes 031 2,283,000        -                   -                   2,283,000        186,656          8%
Licenses and Permits 032 114,500           -                   -                   114,500           34,909            30%
Intergovernmental Revenue 033 30,000             -                   -                   30,000             -                 0%
Charges for Services 034 56,124             -                   -                   56,124             17,720            32%
Fines & Forfeitures 035 146,750           -                   -                   146,750           10,399            7%
Miscellaneous Revenue 038 191,550           -                   -                   191,550           7,707              4%
Water/Sewer 400 2,035,000        -                   -                   2,035,000        182,697          9%
Solidwaste 540 297,000           -                   -                   297,000           23,958            8%
Other Income 038 500                  -                   -                   500                  833                 167%
SPLOST 320 -                   -                   -                   -                   968                 100%

TOTAL REVENUES 5,154,424        -                   -                   5,154,424        465,845          9%

EXPENSES
Mayor And Council 130 32,775             -                   -                   32,775             2,779              8%
General Administrative 150 550,446           -                   -                   550,446           49,404            9%
General Govt Bldgs & Plant 156 95,000             -                   -                   95,000             1,541              2%
Police 300 778,279           -                   -                   778,279           85,883            11%
Municipal Court 265 160,503           -                   -                   160,503           13,725            9%
Fire 350 636,782           -                   -                   636,782           69,714            11%
Streets 400 389,839           -                   -                   389,839           31,286            8%
Senior Citizens 550 38,000             -                   -                   38,000             1,190              3%
Recreation 610 29,500             -                   -                   29,500             1,921              7%
Thunderbolt Museum 660 3,000               -                   -                   3,000               180                 6%
Zoning Board/Commission 741 7,800               -                   -                   7,800               1,426              18%
Capital Savings 100,000           -                   -                   100,000           -                 0%
Capital Expenses Dept 350 253,000           -                   -                   253,000           -                 0%
Water/Sewer 400 2,035,500        -                   -                   2,035,500        169,183          8%
Solidwaste 540 303,845           -                   -                   303,845           22,652            7%
SPLOST 320 -                   -                   -                   -                   4,969              100%

-                   -                   -                   -                   -                 0%
TOTAL EXPENSES 5,414,269        -                   -                   5,414,269        455,852          8%

(DEFICIT) SURPLUS (259,845)          (259,845)          9,993              



 

SPRINKLER VARIANCE 

Regarding the request for a variance for sprinkler requirements in the NEW storage building located 
4606 Mechanics Avenue.  

This is one of three structures located on the property including the storefront and another storage 
building at the rear of the property. None of the buildings have fire sprinklers, a fire alarm system, or 
early warning of any nature. Only the storefront has ADA or proper fire department access and portable 
fire extinguishers. The existing building at the rear of the property is existing non-compliant. The new  
noncombustible structure also has two rows of an acrylic type skylights that could readily vent to the 
outside from the heat of a fire offering more oxygen for growth. 

I would offer the following information to be used in consideration of granting any variance for this 
project. “Sprinklers save lives”. The day after the January Council meeting, where I was asked to 
evaluate the possible variance, there was a fire at a self-storage building on Abercorn in Savannah. Six 
units on the front side and twelve on the rear of the structure were damaged. There were no sprinklers 
or early detection. Furniture is a large fire load in most furniture storage locations. A fire often results in 
the loss of the structure and or lives (Charleston 7). 

Based on all of the above information, I suggest the use of alternative protection if a variance is granted. 
Some examples could include: 

• Fire Department access with all weather construction. This will grant access to the new and the 
existing building for Fire, Rescue, EMS, and Police. 

• Limit access to owner/employees only. No public in the structure. 

• Defined aisles to/from all doors(no storge here). 

• Limit the height of storage, maybe seven feet. Single layer or pieces. No stacking (exception- 
non-combustible shelves to the height limit). 

• No smoking, gases, chemicals, or repairs inside this building. 

• No power. (or limited power. See below.) 

• A monitored fire alarm system with manual and automatic heat detection. 

• Manual fire extinguishers of ten pound size versus the permissible five pounders. 

These are just some suggested alternative that should produce an increased level of protection for 
property and life. We have to protect the emergency responders that go to the emergency regardless of 
the situation and specifics produced by others. 



TOWN OF THUNDERBOLT 
Application for Home Occupation Permit 

VfRene 
<Po.s2> 

[ ] New Application [ i^Renewal Application (for j j j fe year) 

Home Occupation: An occupation customarily carried on within a home for gain or support; 
involving the sale of only those articles, products, or services produced on the residing in such 
dwelling unit, using only such equipment as is customarily found in a home and involving no 
display of articles or products. A home occupation shall include the boarding of not more than 
two non-transient guests. A beauty parlor operating in a room separate from, but attached to a 
dwelling unit and using equipment other than that customarily found in a home, shall be defined 
as a home occupation under the following specific conditions: 

a. Such beauty parlor shall occupy not more than 500 square feet of floor area. 
b. There shall be no more than two employees, both of whom shall reside in the 

dwelling unit to which the beauty parlor is attached. 

1. ^_ Name and Type of business to be conducted under this home_occupation permit. 

2. Address where home occupation will be operated: \ \ C 

Town of Thunderbolt Classification for address where home occupation is to be 
permitted. 

O b i \4c--;>, ^C .O V \ * - \ — Y M - ^ W , 

4 Does the applicant live at the above address? 

- > ^ 
y ^ " -

5. Is the home occupation to be operated entirely within the dwelling in which the 
applicant lives? N ̂ --^ Is the space used for such home occupation also for household 
purposes? \| x̂ s— 

6. Are the applicant and his/her immediate family the only persons who will engage in 
the home occupation? V c- ^ 

7. Do all persons who will work in within the home occupation permit live in the 
dwelling in which the home occupation will be conducted? \ ^ ^ 

List Complete Name of Persons: Cd<^Av- ^~- wxav^OyO^ •> l 
Print 

8. Will there be a sign necessary to advertise the home occupation? K x 3 



9. 

10. 

11. 

12. 

Will there be any outward evidence of such Home Occupation, such as a display of 
goods, or the accumulation of trash, or the storage of materials, or the loading or 
unloading of trucks? ^ ° 

List the name/address/contact phone number of property owner if different from 
applicant. 

If applicant is different from property owner of record, a statement of consent MUST 
accompany this application (this should be a notarized statement). Is that document 
provided? 

Applicant: Please list name and addresses of the adjoining property owners. The 
Town of Thunderbolt will contact them to inform them of your application. 

± T t o o — ^ ~ \ i ^> W 
l e » v > v fr .•>»»»• • S q s a 

The applicant who, being duly sworn, deposes and says that the above statements are true and 
correct to the best of the applicant's knowledge. 

Applicant Signature 

PrifttName _ v ^ New 

Signature of Notary 

Doxiene C. Smith 
NOTARY PUBLIC 

New Hanover County 
North Carolina 

Expires October 10.2027 

D a t e | Q \ ^ N \ 3 - 2 > 

Phone Number 

V 

Email ; C o \ e V . c P ^ ^ V ' Q ' © ft/nM \ , C 
Dat 

v^W 

All APPLICANTS FOR HOME OCCUPATION: The Town of Thunderbolt home 
occupation permits are for a period not to exceed one year. These applications are approved 
by Mayor and Council at the December Council Meeting. 

Application Final 

If denied s ta te 

Permit Number 

Initials 

FOR TOWN OF THUNDERBOLT USE 
APPROVED[ ] DENIED [ ] 

Permit Paid: Date: / / 











 Thunderbolt Fire Department 
2702 Mechanics Avenue 

  Thunderbolt, Ga. 31404 
  Phone: 912-354-3892 
  Fax: 912-354-7642 

 
 

Fire Station Hot Water Heater Replacement Quotes 
 
Hutson Plumbing: 
 

A. Price to supply and install 80 gallon water heater…………..$ 10,585.00 
 

B. Price to supply and install 50 gallon water heater…………..$ 5,945.00 
 

C. Option for Electric or Gas Not Provided 
 

 
Parkside Plumbing of Savannah: 
 

A. Price to install 80 gallon water heater…………………..……$ 3,700.00 
 

B. Price to install tankless outdoor gas water heater…………..$ 6,800.00 
 

C. Option for Electric is not viable for our application. 
 

 
Jim Fail/Ferguson: 
 

A. Price for Equipment-tankless outdoor gas water heater…….$ 4,658.26 
 

B. Labor price was estimated however no official quote………..$ 1,900.00 
 

C. Total - $6,558.26 
 

 
My (Chief Bateman) Recommendation is to go with Option B with Parkside 
Plumbing of Savannah. This option will prevent any future issues with water 
leaks as well be more efficient. Additional items to follow is minor electrical 
work and sheetrock repairs. 
 
 

































































 

Town of Thunderbolt Event Permit (revised 2019)      

 

TOWN OF THUNDERBOLT 

PERMIT APPLICATION FOR COMMERCIAL OR BUSINESS 

OUTDOOR ACTIVITY EVENT OR EVENTS 
 

APPLICANT NAME:_________________________________________________________ 

 

BUSINESS NAME:___________________________________________________________ 

 

ADDRESS:__________________________________________________________________ 

 

TELEPHONE: _______________________________________________________________ 

 

ACTIVITY EVENT 

PURPOSE:__________________________________________________________________ 

 

DATE OR DATES OF EVENT: ________________________________________________ 

SPECIFY: DAY OR DAYS: ___________________________________________________ 

 

TIME OF EVENT: BEGINS___________ ENDS____________ 

 

PLEASE CHECK AND NOTE NUMBER(S) THE FOLLOWING IF APPLICABLE: 

 

APPLICANT WILL HAVE THE FOLLOWING PRESENT AT THE ABOVE EVENT: 

 

____ FOOD- SPECIAL/TEMPORARY FOOD PERMIT IS REQUIRED BY THE CHATHAM 

COUNTY HEALTH DEPT FOR PUBLIC EVENTS 

      If the applicant or business has a current Food Permit from the Chatham County Health Dept.  

 Please provide the following information on this permit: 

 Permit No. __________________ Date_________________  Expires_________________ 

   

____ ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES – A SPECIAL/TEMPORARY PERMIT IS REQUIRED FROM 

THE TOWN OF THUNDERBOLT AND ALSO THE GEORGIA DEPT OF REVENUE. 

If applicant or business has a current Alcohol Permit or License from the Georgia Depart of 

Revenue. Please provide the following information: 

 

           Permit/License no. ________________ Date:________________ Expires:___________________ 

  

____ PORTABLE TOILET/S    _____  FIREWORKS 

 

____ TENTS, STAGES, ETC. 

 

____ BOOTH/S 

 

____ VENDORS 

 

____ AMUSEMENT TYPE EQUIPMENT 

 

____ BANDS, MUSIC, INSTRUMENTS, ETC. 
            Page 1 of 5 

http://www.thunderboltga.org/
Justin Myers

Alee Anglers Sportfishing Club

100 Eisenburg Drive   Savannah, GA 31406

912-328-0364

Sales

4-29-2023

12pm

6pm

x



 

Town of Thunderbolt Event Permit (revised 2019)      

 

 

*Temporary/Special Licenses or Permits requirements by Georgia Department of Revenue  

& Chatham County Health Dept. must be obtained prior to the event.   

 

APPLICANT, OWNER OR INDIVIDUAL SHALL SUBMIT THIS APPLICATION 

30 DAYS PRIOR TO EVENT OR EVENTS AND MUST APPEAR BEFORE  

THE MAYOR AND TOWN COUNCIL AT THE TOWN MEETING 

WHEN APPLICATION APPEARS ON THE TOWN MEETING AGENDA.  

 

THIS APPLICATION AND PERMIT FEES SHALL BE APPROVED 

FOR NOT MORE THAN ONE YEAR AT A TIME. APPLICANT 

MUST APPLY AND PAY ALL PERMIT FEES EACH CALENDAR YEAR. 

 

 

INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT AND ACCEPTANCE TO 

ADHERE TO APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS 

 

I, individually and as the Agent representing the Event Organization, do hereby agree to indemnify 

and hold harmless the Town of Thunderbolt, Georgia, its officers, agents, employees, officials, and 

contractors from and against any and all loss, damage, claim, demand, liability or expense by reason 

of any damage or injury to property or person which may be claimed to have arisen as a result of or 

in connection with the occupancy or use of listed event premises during the time period of said 

event. 

 

Such obligation to indemnify and hold harmless shall continue notwithstanding any negligence or 

comparative negligence on the part of the Town of Thunderbolt relating to such loss or damage, 

except for loss or damage arising from the sole negligence or willful misconduct or gross 

negligence of the Town, and shall include all costs, expenses and liabilities incurred by the Town in 

connection with any such claim, suit, action or cause of action, including the investigation thereof 

and the defense of any action or proceeding brought thereon and any other judgment or decree 

which may be entered in any such action or proceeding  or as a result thereof.  These provisions 

shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of the use of premises.  Nothing in this Agreement 

shall be construed to affect in any way the Town’s rights, privileges, and immunities as set forth in 

Georgia Statues and/or the Constitution of the State of Georgia. 

 

 

Representative Signature;_______________________________ Date:____________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
            Page 2 of 5 

 

http://www.thunderboltga.org/
2-7-2023



 

Town of Thunderbolt Event Permit (revised 2019)      

 

PERMIT FEES:  

  

 ONE DAY EVENT: $ 50.00 – Resident/Business $150.00- Non Resident/Non Business 

 *SPECIAL ONE DAY EVENT - $500.00 (require closing of streets, additional preparation 

  of the Town’s police officers, firefighters, employees, agents or contractors; additional fees  

    may be assessed to cover the Town’s costs for assistance or services) 

 

 TWO DAY EVENT: $ 100.00 – Resident/Business  $200.00 – Non Resident/Non Business 

 

 THREE OR MORE 

  DAY EVENT:           $ 150.00 – Resident/Business $ 450.00 – Non Resident/Non Business 

 

Note: Request of Waiver of Fee(s) requires the completion of a Waiver of Fee Form to be 

attached to the permit application and must be approval of Mayor and Council. 

 

If applicant is renting or leasing the facility where the event is to take place then the applicant 

shall receive an affidavit from the legal property owner of their approval to have an event 

stating their complete application request including the dispensing or selling of alcoholic 

beverages.  The affidavit must be signed and notarized and must be attached to the 

applicant’s application prior the review and approval of Town Council.  

 

   

**** PERMIT FEE MUST BE PAID AT THE TIME OF APPLICATION**** 

         FAILURE TO SUBMIT PAYMENT ALONG WITH APPLICATION 

         SHALL RESULT IN THE APPLICATION NOT BEING CONSIDERED FOR  

         APPROVAL BY THE TOWN OF THUNDERBOLT. 

 

PERMIT FEE REFUND:  

THE TOWN OF THUNDERBOLT WILL REFUND THE PERMIT FEE 

IF THE TOWN IS NOTIFIED WITHIN AT LEAST 5 DAYS PRIOR TO 

THE EVENT BEING CANCELLED AND/OR 5 DAYS AFTER REQUESTED DAY OF 

THE EVENT, IF CANCELLED:  SEE THE FOLLOWING: 

ONE DAY EVENT: FULL REFUND, IF EVENT CANCELLED AND TOWN 

NOTIFIED OF CANCELLATION. 

TWO DAY OR MORE EVENTS: ONE –THIRD OF THE PERMIT FEE REFUNDED, 

IF ONE OR MORE DAYS OF EVENT CANCELLED AND TOWN NOTIFIED OF  

CANCELLATION. 

 

NO PARTIAL OR FULL PERMIT FEE WILL BE REFUNDED UPON 

            PERMIT BEING REVOKED AS A RESULT OF APPLICANT, 

            OWNER OR INDIVIDUAL BEING IN VIOLATION OF  

            TOWN OF THUNDERBOLT ORDINANCES OR RULES AND REGULATIONS. 

 

 

 

 
            Page 3 of 5 

 

http://www.thunderboltga.org/


 

Town of Thunderbolt Event Permit (revised 2019)      

 

TOWN OF THUNDERBOLT ORDINANCES 

RULES & REGULATIONS 

FOR COMMERCIAL OR BUSINESS OUTDOOR ACTIVITY EVENT OR EVENTS 

 

The following Town of Thunderbolt Ordinances, Rules and Regulations do hereby apply and are the 

sole responsibility of the Applicant, Owner or Individual to comply with: 

 

1. Applicant, Owner, or Individual shall engage the services of an Off-Duty Police  

    Officer or Officers be present at all times during the course of the Outdoor Activity Event, when 

    alcoholic beverages are sold or distributed. Services of a Security Guard or Security Guard 

    Service is not acceptable. IF APPLICANT, OWNER OR INDIVIDUAL REFUSES OR DOES 

    NOT ENGAGE THE SERVICES OF AN OFF-DUTY POLICE OFFICER OR OFFICERS THE  

    OUTDOOR ACTIVITY EVENT PERMIT SHALL BE REVOKED FOR 6 MONTHS, 

    WHICH MAY ALSO INCLUDE A FINE OR FINES. 

  

2. Applicant, Owner or Individual shall be responsible for removing Portable Toilets within 3 days 

    following the event or shall be fined in the amount of $100.00 per day per unit until Portable 

    Toilet or Toilets are removed. 

 

    In the event, Applicant. Owner or Individual requires future use of Portable Toilet or Toilets,  

    they shall be responsible for the cleaning, disinfecting, maintenance, and securing the Portable  

    Toilet or Toilets. 

 

3.  Applicant, Owner or Individual will be responsible to remove all Tents, Stages, etc within 3 days 

     following the Outdoor Activity Event or shall be fined in the amount of $100.00 per day until 

     Tents, Stages, etc., have been removed. 

 

4.  Applicant, Owner or Individual will be responsible for removing all booths within 3 days 

     following the Outdoor Activity Event or shall be fined in the amount of $50.00 per day per  

     Booth until Booth or Booths have been removed. 

 

5.  Applicant, Owner or Individual will be responsible for removing all Amusement 

     Type Equipment within 3 days following the Outdoor Activity Event or shall be 

     fined in the amount of $50.00 per day per Amusement Type Equipment until 

     Equipment has been removed. 

 

6.  Applicant, Owner or Individual shall be held responsible for Bands, Instruments,  

     Music, etc., to abide by the Town of Thunderbolt Noise Ordinance. NO BANDS, 

     INSTRUMENTS, MUSIC, ETC. SHALL BE ALLOWED TO CONTINUE 

     PLAYING AFTER 10:00 PM.  IF APPLICANT, OWNER, OR INDIVIDUAL 

     VIOLATES THIS ORDINANCE, THE OUTDOOR ACTIVITY PERMIT SHALL BE    

     REVOKED FOR 6 MONTHS, WHICH MAY ALSO INCLUDE A FINE OR FINES. 

 

7.   Applicant, Owner or Individual shall be responsible for cleaning grounds and disposing  

      of all trash, debris, etc. as a result of the Outdoor Activity Event no later than 24 hours 

      following the Event. If Applicant, Owner or Individual  has not cleaned and disposed of trash, 

      debris etc, within 24 hours following the Event they will be fined in the amount of $25.00 per 

      day until all trash, debris, etc. is disposed and grounds are cleaned.    
            Page 4 of 5 

http://www.thunderboltga.org/


 

Town of Thunderbolt Event Permit (revised 2019)      

 

By Signing below, I the Applicant, Owner or Individual applying for this Outdoor Activity Event(s) 

Permit have read and will comply with the above and all other Town of Thunderbolt 

Ordinances, if applicable pertaining to Outdoor Activities and Events.  A copy of Applicant, 

Owner or Individual Driver’s License is also attached. 

 

__________________________________  ______________________________ 

      Applicant, Owner or Individual                              Witness 

    

_________________________________  ______________________________ 

      Business        Notary Public 

 

       ______________________________ 

Date______________________________                 Notary Public Stamp & Seal 

       

RECEIVED BY: ____________________________ 

                              Town Official and Title 

  

THE ATTACHED APPLICATION FOR AN OUTDOOR ACTIVITY EVENT PERMIT 

HAS BEEN APPROVED THIS ________ DAY OF ________________, 20___. 

BY THE TOWN OF THUNDERBOLT MAYOR AND TOWN COUNCIL WHOSE NAMES 

AND SIGNATURES ARE LISTED BELOW OR BY THE TOWN 

ADMINISTRATOR WHOSE SIGNATURE IS LISTED BELOW. 

 

__________________________________   ____________________________ 

Mayor        Town Administrator 

 

__________________________________ 

Councilmember 

 

________________________________ 

Councilmember 

 

__________________________________ 

Councilmember 

 

_________________________________ 

Councilmember 

 

_________________________________ 

Councilmember 

 

_________________________________ 

Councilmember 

 

 

 
            Page 5 of 5 

 

 

http://www.thunderboltga.org/


Rev. 2022.01 

RESOLUTION NO: ____________ 
 
A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING AND IMPLEMENTING A PROGRAM TO 
CHARGE MITIGATION RATES FOR THE DEPLOYMENT OF EMERGENCY AND 
NON-EMERGENCY SERVICES BY THE FIRE DEPARTMENT FOR SERVICES 
PROVIDED/RENDERED FOR THE THUNDERBOLT FIRE DEPARTMENT. 
 
WHEREAS, the emergency services response activity to incidents continues to increase 
each year; Environmental Protection requirements involving equipment and training, and 
Homeland Security regulations involving equipment and training, creating additional 
demands on all operational aspects of the fire department services; and  
 
WHEREAS, the fire department has investigated different methods to maintain a high 
level of quality of emergency and non-emergency service capability throughout times of 
constantly increasing service demands, where maintaining an effective response by the 
fire department decreases the costs of incidents to insurance carriers, businesses, and 
individuals through timely and effective management of emergency situations, saving 
lives and reducing property and environmental damage; and  
 
WHEREAS, raising real property tax to meet the increase in service demands would not 
be fair when the responsible party(s) should be held accountable for their actions; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and Council of the Town of Thunderbolt desires to implement a 
fair and equitable procedure by which to collect said mitigation rates and shall establish a 
billing system in accordance with applicable laws, regulations and guidelines; Now, 
Therefore  
 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
THUNDERBOLT: 
 
SECTION 1: The Mayor and Council of the Town of Thunderbolt shall initiate 
mitigation rates for the delivery of emergency and non-emergency services by the fire 
department for personnel, supplies and equipment to the scene of emergency and non-
emergency incidents as listed in “EXHIBIT A”. The mitigation rates shall be based on 
actual costs of the services and that which is usual, customary and reasonable (UCR) as 
shown in “EXHIBIT A”, which may include any services, personnel, supplies, and 
equipment and with baselines established by addendum to this document.  
 
SECTION 2: A claim shall be filed to the responsible party(s) through their insurance 
carrier. In some circumstances, the responsible party(s) will be billed directly. 
 
SECTION 3: The Mayor and Council of the Town of Thunderbolt may make rules or 
regulations and from time to time may amend, revoke, or add rules and regulations, not 
consistent with this Section, as they may deem necessary or expedient in respect to 
billing for these mitigation rates or the collection thereof. 
 



Rev. 2022.01 

SECTION 4:  It is found and determined that all formal actions of the Mayor and Council 
of the Town of Thunderbolt concerning and relating to the adoption of this Resolution 
were adopted in open meetings of the Mayor and Council of the Town of Thunderbolt, 
and that all deliberations of this Mayor and Council of the Town of Thunderbolt and any 
of its committees that resulted in such formal actions were in accordance with all legal 
requirements, and the Codified Resolutions of the Mayor and Council of the Town of 
Thunderbolt. 
 
SECTION 5:  This resolution shall take effect at the date of adoption. 
 
SECTION 6: The Mitigation Rates lists in Exhibit A will increase by 2.6% annually 
or based on the annual percentage increase in the Consumer Price Index (CPI), as 
developed by the Bureau of Labor Statistics of the U.S. Department of Labor, 
whichever is more.  Rate adjustments will occur on the anniversary date of this 
ordinance/resolution to keep the fire department's cost recovery program in 
conformity with increasing operating expenses. 
 
 
 
Passed: _______________________   ___________________________ 
         Signature 
 
Approved _____________________   ___________________________ 
         Signature 
 
THE ABOVE WAS PASSED 
 

Signature: ________________________________________ 
 
 
 
Name (printed): ____________________________________ 
 
 
 
Title: _____________________________________________ 

 
 
 

Date: _____________________________________ 



Rev. 2022.01 

EXHIBIT A 
MITIGATION RATES 

BASED ON PER HOUR 
 

The mitigation rates below are average “billing levels”, and are typical for the incident 
responses listed, however, when a claim is submitted, it may be itemized and based on 
the actual services provided. 
 
These rates are based on actual costs using amortized schedules for apparatus 
(including useful life, equipment, repairs, and maintenance).  Labor rates include an 
average department’s actual burdened labor costs and not just a firefighter's wage.  
These include wages, retirement, benefits, workers comp, etc.  

 
 
MOTOR VEHICLE INCIDENTS 
Level 1 - $0 – Not Billable in Georgia  
Provide hazardous materials assessment and scene stabilization. This will be the most 
common “billing level”.  This occurs almost every time the fire department responds to 
an accident/incident.   
 
Level 2 - $623.00   
Includes Level 1 services as well as clean up and material used (sorbents) for 
hazardous fluid clean up and disposal.  We will bill at this level if the fire department has 
to clean up any gasoline or other automotive fluids that are spilled as a result of the 
accident/incident.   
 
Level 3 – CAR FIRE - $760.00   
Provide scene safety, fire suppression, breathing air, rescue tools, hand tools, hose, tip 
use, foam, structure protection, and clean up gasoline or other automotive fluids that are 
spilled as a result of the accident/incident.   
 
ADD-ON SERVICES: 
 
Extrication - $1,641.00   
Includes heavy rescue tools, ropes, airbags, cribbing etc.  This charge will be added if 
the fire department has to free/remove anyone from the vehicle(s) using any equipment.  
We will not bill at this level if the patient is simply unconscious and fire department is 
able to open the door to access the patient.  This level is to be billed only if equipment is 
deployed.  
 
Creating a Landing Zone - $502.00  
Includes Air Care (multi-engine company response, mutual aid, helicopter).  We will bill 
at this level any time a helicopter landing zone is created and/or is utilized to transport 
the patient(s). 
 
Itemized Response: You have the option to bill each incident as an independent event 
with custom mitigation rates, for each incident using, itemized rates deemed usual, 
customary and reasonable (UCR). These incidents will be billed, itemized per apparatus, 
per personnel, plus products and equipment used. 
HAZMAT 
 



Rev. 2022.01 

Level 1 - $881.00   
Basic Response: Claim will include engine response, first responder assignment, 
perimeter establishment, evacuations, set-up and command.  
 
 
Level 2 - $3,146.00  
Intermediate Response: Claim will include engine response, first responder 
assignment, hazmat certified team and appropriate equipment, perimeter establishment, 
evacuations, set-up and command, Level A or B suit donning, breathing air and 
detection equipment.  Set-up and removal of decon center. 
 
Level 3 – $7,426.00  
Advanced Response: Claim will include engine response, first responder assignment, 
hazmat certified team and appropriate equipment, perimeter establishment, evacuations, 
first responder set-up and command, Level A or B suit donning, breathing air and 
detection equipment and robot deployment. Set-up and removal of decon center, 
detection equipment, recovery and identification of material. Disposal and environment 
clean up. Includes above in addition to any disposal rates of material and contaminated 
equipment and material used at scene.  Includes 3 hours of on scene time - each 
additional hour @ $356.00 per HAZMAT team. 
 
 
 
FIRE INVESTIGATION 
Fire Investigation Team - $346.00 per hour.  
Includes:  
  
• Scene Safety 
• Investigation  
• Source Identification 
• K-9/Arson Dog Unit 
• Identification Equipment 
• Mobile Detection Unit 
• Fire Report 
  
The claim begins when the Fire Investigator responds to the incident and is billed 
for logged time only.  
 
 
FIRES 
Assignment - $503.00 per hour, per engine / $629.00 per hour, per truck 
  
Includes:  
  
• Scene Safety 
• Investigation   
• Fire / Hazard Control 
 
This will be the most common “billing level”.  This occurs almost every time the fire 
department responds to an incident.   
 



Rev. 2022.01 

OPTIONAL:  A fire department has the option to bill each fire as an independent 
event with custom mitigation rates.   
 
Itemized, per person, at various pay levels and for itemized products use. 
 
 
 
 
ILLEGAL FIRES 
Assignment - $503.00 per hour, per engine / $629.00 per hour, per truck 
When a fire is started by any person or persons that requires a fire department response 
during a time or season when fires are regulated or controlled by local or state rules, 
provisions or ordinances because of pollution or fire danger concerns, such person or 
persons will be liable for the fire department response at a cost not to exceed the actual 
expenses incurred by the fire department to respond and contain the fire.  Similarly, if a 
fire is started where permits are required for such a fire and the permit was not obtained 
and the fire department is required to respond to contain the fire the responsible party 
will be liable for the response at a cost not to exceed the actual expenses incurred by 
the fire department. The actual expenses will include direct labor, equipment costs and 
any other costs that can be reasonably allocated to the cost of the response. 
 
 
 
WATER INCIDENTS 
Level 1   
Basic Response: Claim will include engine response, first responder assignment, 
perimeter establishment, evacuations, first responder set-up and command, scene 
safety and investigation (including possible patient contact, hazard control).  This will be 
the most common “billing level”. This occurs almost every time the fire department 
responds to a water incident.   
 
Billed at $503 plus $62 per hour, per rescue person. 
 
Level 2  
Intermediate Response: Includes Level 1 services as well as clean up and material 
used (sorbents), minor hazardous clean up and disposal.  We will bill at this level if the 
fire department has to clean up small amounts of gasoline or other fluids that are spilled 
as a result of the incident.   
 
Billed at $1,006 plus $62 per hour, per rescue person. 
 
Level 3  
Advanced Response: Includes Level 1 and Level 2 services as well as D.A.R.T. 
activation, donning breathing apparatus and detection equipment. Set up and removal of 
decon center, detection equipment, recovery and identification of material. Disposal and 
environment clean up. Includes above in addition to any disposal rates of material and 
contaminated equipment and material used at scene.  
  
Billed at $2,489 plus $62 per hour per rescue person, plus $126 per hour per 
HAZMAT team member. 
 



Rev. 2022.01 

Level 4  
Itemized Response: You have the option to bill each incident as an independent event 
with custom mitigation rates for each incident using itemized rates deemed usual, 
customary and reasonable (UCR). These incidents will be billed, itemized, per trained 
rescue person, plus rescue products used. 
 
 
 
 
BACK COUNTRY OR SPECIAL RESCUE 
Itemized Response: Each incident will be billed with custom mitigation rates deemed 
usual, customary and reasonable (UCR). These incidents will be billed, itemized per 
apparatus per hour, per trained rescue person per hour, plus rescue products used. 
 
Minimum billed $503 for the first response vehicle plus $62 per rescue person. 
Additional rates of $503 per hour per response vehicle and $62 per hour per 
rescue person. 
 
 
CHIEF RESPONSE 
This includes the set-up of Command, and providing direction of the incident. This could 
include operations, safety, and administration of the incident. 
 
Billed at $315 per hour.  
 
 
MISCELLANEOUS / ADDITIONAL TIME ON-SCENE 
 
 
ADDITIONAL TIME ON-SCENE (for all levels of service) 
Engine billed at $503 per hour. 
Truck billed at $629 per hour. 
Miscellaneous equipment billed at $378. 
 
 
MITIGATION RATE NOTES 
The mitigation rates above are average “billing levels” for one hour of service, and are 
typical for the incident responses listed, however, when a claim is submitted, it may be 
itemized and based on the actual services provided.  
 
These average mitigation rates were determined by itemizing costs for a typical run 
(from the time a fire apparatus leaves the station until it returns to the station) and are 
based on the actual costs, using amortized schedules for apparatus (including useful life, 
equipment, repairs, and maintenance) and labor rates (an average department’s “actual 
personnel expense” and not just a firefighter's basic wage).  The actual personnel 
expense includes costs such as wages, retirement, benefits, workers comp, insurance, 
etc. 

 
 



INTER OFFICE CORRESPONDENCE 
 
 
TO:  Town Administrator, Robert Milie 
   
FROM:        Chief Sean Clayton 
   
DATE: February 1, 2023 
 
SUBJECT: Monthly Report for January 2023 
 
 
 
 
POLICE DEPARTMENT: 
During the month of January officers responded to two separate incidents involving 
domestic violence.  One incident involved a frying pan that was used as a weapon on an 
elderly person.  The second incident involved a firearm where luckily the victim in this 
case was not struck.  These were two very volatile situations where the potential for our 
officers to have to use deadly force was extremely high.  However, because of the 
extensive training our officers have undergone, they were able to use other means 
necessary to where deadly force didn’t have to be used.   
 
Myself, and two other officers with our department attended this years Traffick Jam 
conference held at Savannah State University.  This was a very informative class and 
we were able to get contact information for agents with Homeland Security and the FBI 
who specialize in human trafficking cases.  There was also a representative with 
FLETC (Federal Law Enforcement Training Center) that invited us to their facility to 
receive federal training for some of the same classes we receive at the state level.  This 
will help our officers with being able to go after our more serious types of crimes at the 
federal level instead of the state level, so this will give us yet another tool in our 
toolbox to use.       
   
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



DEPARTMENT MONTHLY ACTIVITY REPORT 
 
 

INCIDENT REPORTS      15 
 
ACCIDENT REPORTS       5 
 
MISC. REPORTS        2 
 
DOMESTIC VIOLENCE CASES                     2 
 
D.U.I. ARRESTS        0 
 
PERSONS ARRESTED       4  
 
TRAFFIC CITATIONS       64 
 
WRITTEN WARNINGS                 37 
 
ANIMAL COMPLAINTS       0 
 
 
 
 
 

2022/2023 Monthly Comparison 

 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Yearly 

Classification of  
Offenses 22 23 22 23 22 23 22 23 22 23 22 23 22 23 22 23 22 23 22 23 22 23 22 23 2022 2023 

Homicide 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Sexual Assault 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 

Robbery 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 

Agg Assault 0 2 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 4 2 

Simple Assault 0 0 2 0 0 0 1 0 2 0 2 0 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 11 0 

Burglary 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 

Larceny-Theft 1 3 1 0 2 0 9 0 9 0 4 0 6 0 1 0 4 0 0 0 4 0 4 0 45 3 

Auto Theft 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 6 0 

 3 5 4 0 3 0 10 0 14 0 7 0 16 0 4 0 7 0 1 0 4 0 6 0 79 5 

 
 
 

MUNICIPAL COURT 
 
The fees and fines the Court collected for the month of January were $12,362.00       
 
 



  

 

 

 

MAYOR AND COUNCIL REPORT 
January 2023 Report 

 
 
 

Mission Statement 
 

"The mission of the Thunderbolt Fire 
Department is to minimize loss of life, 

property and environment in the Town of 
Thunderbolt from both natural and man-

made disasters, life threatening situations 
and to assist other emergency agencies. 

We will achieve this mission through 
professional/progressive training and fire 

education while providing first class 
services to our community." 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Prepared by: 
Andrew Bateman 
Chief of Thunderbolt Fire Department 

 



1 
 

 

 

Thunderbolt Fire Incident Breakdown 

 

JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEPT OCT NOV DEC YTD 
Fire Response 11 11
EMS Response 24 24

  Grand Total 35 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 35  
 

Call Comparison Between 2022 & 2023 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

2022 2023

January February March April May June July August September October November December

0
2
4

Average Response Time

Average Response Time



2 
 

 

 

Department News 

 

Highlighted Incidents:  

• Response to a Vehicle Fire 
o Investigator was in to assist with Origin and Cause of Fire  

 
Highlighted Projects: 
 

• Air Quality Testing Completed at Fire Station 
• Several Vendor Contacted to assist with Mold Remediation 
• Completed all Internet Networking with IT 
• Assisted Public Works with Mechanics Avenue Project 
• Clean and Tidy Program 
• Tree Trimming at Thompson Park Completed 
• Pressure Wash Concrete Pad at Cessaroni Park 

 
Chief Report: 
 

• Continue Preparation for ISO Inspection in 2023. 
• Continue working on Hydrants, Hose Testing, Preplans, Etc. 
• Several Meetings with Town Administrator to look at Goals and Projects for FD. 
• Working on AFG Grant for the second attempt for Tender and PPE. 
 

 
 

 
 

Thunderbolt Fire Department  
Training January 

 
Online Training: 4 Hours 

 
Company Training: 34 Hours 

 
Outside Training:  0 Hour 
 
YTD 2023 Hours:  38 Hours 
 

























 

Running TA Report 

To Be on February Agenda 

● Revised Simply Savannah Marketing Contract 
● Christmas Festival Cost Breakdown 
● Resolution for Cost Recovery  
● PD Report 
● TA report 
●  Public Works Report 
●  Finance Report 
●  Variance considerations  for Seven Heaven Antiques sprinkler system for 

storage shed.  
 

  Around Town 

●   Re-paving – Rowland an Tuberson are forthcoming hopefully first part of 2023 
●    Discussion for town wide road evaluation/ assessment 

○  Will help with 2,5,10 plan 
○ Contact: IMS Daniel Write 

●   Honey Park Beautification 
○  Entering Phase 3 of Design 

●  Thomson Park Beautification 
○ Need quote from GA power to bury power line 
○ Working on getting three bids for Fountain repair 

■ Fountain’s & Such 
○  Well: Bob Myrick (Myrick Marine) 
○   Upper Deck Repair 
○  Under Upper Deck Fence 

●  Safe & Tidy Update 

Grants 

● LMIG 2023 (Submitted 01-30-2023) 
○ Road Repair  

● GA Forestry Commission Technical Support Grant (Awarded) 
●   Tree Canopy/Survey mapping needs 

https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1svyQd9Uv_3ySPp6aThLoJ9cLVAqE9ilUN7ExeYLGMR0/edit?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1svyQd9Uv_3ySPp6aThLoJ9cLVAqE9ilUN7ExeYLGMR0/edit?usp=sharing


 
● AFG (Due 02/10/2023) 

○ Fire Department PPE & Tender for areas without hydrants 
● RAISE 2023 (Due 02/28/2023) 
● Chatham County Blueprint (Due 03/01/2023) 

○   Senior Center 
● State Fiscal Relief/ ARPA (Due 04/15/2023 

○  Force Main 
● LMIG 2024 (Begin Submission July 2023) 
● Sidewalk Grant Research Stages 

Town Departments 

● Finance 
●  Police 

○ The recent tragedy in Memphis emphasizes the importance of ensuring 
that our police officers are receiving the best training and support 
possible. Chief Clayton will address some of the things that have been 
done or are being addressed to protect our citizens, officers, and 
municipality alike. 

■ Securing quality officers starts during the hiring process. We do 
extensive background checks and have a good rapport with other 
Chiefs who let you know of red flags with former officers. 

■ Every officer is required to be trained in CIT. Oftentimes officers 
rely on training to subdue an individual. Diffusion with a person in 
a mental crisis takes on a different role to which they have been 
trained and certified. 

■  Random review of officer Body Cam Videos to see how they are 
interacting with the public and going ahead and addressing 
customer service issues we may see before they turn into a 
complaint. 

■  Follow-up and investigate all complaints and address any issues 
immediately. 

■  Leadership under Chief Clayton for constant on scene 
reevaluation for de-escalation tactics to always use the path of 
least resistance. 

■ All officers a required to take a class once a year with de-
escalation tactics. 

■  Choke holds are not a method used in TPD 



 
■ An addition of two more less than lethal tools to the box which 

now includes taser, pepper ball gun, and flash bangs all designed 
to be used only when necessary and hopefully replace the need 
for lethal force 

■ Added a contract police public information officer for as needed in 
the event something weather natural disaster or officer involved 
shooting may be addressed 

■ A direct benefit is the mutual aid received from the City as they 
often arrive after in a support role, but arrive as an outside agency 
with fresh eyes and unemotionally involved. 

■  We have mental health offerings via health insurance as well as 
on the job related mental health for work related things such as 
death or serious injury to an officer, death or serious injury of a 
child, mass casualty, etc.  in addition to any needs 

■  At the end of the day, it all boils down to paying attention to 
your officers.  Fortunately for us being a small department, 
Chief has the ability to interact with all of our officers and 
can see how they're doing both physically and emotionally. 
He has sent officers home who were having an off day, 
because of personal reasons. 

○    Monthly Report 
●  Fire 

○ Continued Renovations to FD Department 
○  AFG Grant Writing 
○ Mechanics improvements 
○ Cessaroni Park pressure washing 
○ Starting Process for ISO 

●  Public Works 
○   Medians 
○   Valve Plan 
○  Work Orders 
○  Cameras for Sewage 

 

 

Newer Town Topics 



 
● COR Compost Update 
● Exploring a glass recycling initiative/options 
● Individual Development:  

○ Mentors 
○ Delegation 

 

 



 
 

Thunderbolt Development and 
Resource Utilization Project 

(TDRUP) 
  



The goal of the Thunderbolt Development and Resource 
Utilization Project (TDRUP)   

is to operationalize a clear understanding of the nature and 
degree of future development demands and to assess those 
demands alongside the realities of the infrastructure capacities 
for the Town of Thunderbolt. 
 

The TDRUP is a planning tool that identifies the reasonable 
development requirements of these properties, allowing the 
Town to anticipate the future demand for development in 
Thunderbolt relative to the realities of our limited 
infrastructure capacities. This is an evolving planning tool 
designed to be updated as these identified properties are 
developed in order to responsibly address the broader needs of 
our citizenry while respecting the rights of all property owners 
in Thunderbolt. 


	Resolution Adoption for Cost Recovery FD.pdf
	RESOLUTION NO: ____________
	BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF THUNDERBOLT:
	SECTION 5:  This resolution shall take effect at the date of adoption.
	EXHIBIT A

	Financial High Level January 2023.pdf
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

	Financial January 2023 Executive Summary.pdf
	HIGH LEVEL




